Powers & Therrien Fax: 1-

Fax: 1-509-453-0745

Jul 6 2015 04:22pm P002



JUL 06 2015

COURT OF APPEAL DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

Supreme court case no. 91878-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

-vs-

KITTITAS COUNTY

Defendants/Respondents.

FILED JUL 2 1 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner's Attorney: LESLIE A. POWERS Powers & Therrien, P.S. WSBA #06103

3502 Tieton Drive Yakima, WA 98902 Phone: (509) 453-8906 Fax: (509) 453-0745

07/06/2015 16:26

No.: R591 P. 002/047

APPENDIX

A.	Identity of Parties	
В.	Decision Appealed

A. IDENTITY OF PARTIES

ABC Holdings, Inc. and Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc.

(collectively, CSE) ask this Court to accept review of the Court of

Appeals' Decision Terminating Review designated in Part B of this

Petition. Respondent is Kittitas County ("County").

B. DECISION

CSE requests that the Supreme Court review the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed April 23, 2015 in case No. 307701-III and its order denying the Petitioners' motion for reconsideration dated June 4, 2015. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-18. A copy of the order denying Petitioners' motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-19.

C. ISSUES / BASIS FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals error in refusing to consider
 Constitutional issues that the Petitioners were jurisdictionally barred from raising at the hearing before the hearing examiner?
- 2. Can a county determine that a solid waste transferor and transporter that transports and transfers dangerous waste under a valid license issued by the Department of Ecology is in violation of county

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 1

07/06/2015 16:27 No.: R591 P. 007/047

regulations pertaining to moderate risk waste facilities and, as a result, order the dangerous waste transferor/transporter to cease operations?

- 3. Can a county require a dangerous waste transferor and transporter to obtain a permit to operate as a moderate risk waste facility when, under Washington law, a solid waste facility that stores any amount of dangerous waste is determined to be a dangerous waste facility and, therefore, not a moderate risk waste facility?
- 4. Can a county regulation applicable to moderate risk waste facilities preempt Department of Ecology regulations concerning the transfer and transport of dangerous waste?
- 5. Is a solid waste transfer facility operating under a valid license issued by the Department of Ecology required to obtain a permit to operate a moderate risk waste facility when dangerous waste is not permitted in a moderate risk waste facility?
- 6. Does a county violate article XI, section 11 of the Washington State Constitution when it retroactively and without notice, requires closure of a dangerous waste transfer and transport facility for failure to comply with a local ordinance applicable to moderate risk waste facilities that conflicts with state laws governing dangerous waste facilities?

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 2

7. Did the county violate CSE's right to due process under article I, section 2 and article I, section 3 of the Washington State Constitution, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Federal Constitution when it issued a Notice of Violation and Abatement (NOVA) without notice and a hearing and with retroactive effect?

D. STATEMENT OF CASE

CSE transports regulated dangerous waste ("DW") and moderate risk waste ("MRW") from its address in Kittitas County to remote federal or state permitted disposal sites. CSE and its transporter and transfer facility operation is exclusively permitted and regulated by the Washington State Department of Ecology as further authorized by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") in its receipt, temporary storage and shipment of DWs and locally generated MRWs therewith. CSE has at all relevant times possessed the requisite EPA/DOE number issued under WAC 173-303-060 and as to its transfer facility under notification of the DOE under WAC 173-303-240(6). In short, CSE has all governmental permits to operate its transporter/transfer facility. Kittitas County through its public health district ("KCPHD") has a limited authority under delegation from and strict oversight of the DOE to permit and regulate solid waste handling, including MRW facilities, that involve

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 3

nerrien Fax:1-509-453-0745

and are limited to waste that is either state regulated only, i.e. not exclusively regulated by the EPA and the DOE under delegation thereof, or exempt in small quantities from such regulation. Such local regulation is executed under the local solid waste ordinance ("KCSWO") as approved by Kittitas County but registered with the DOE and all other counties and local health districts. The DOE's oversight and the division of authority and direct oversight between the DOE and local government

¹ Moderate risk waste ("MRW") is waste not regulated federally under 40 CFR Part 261 because it is below threshold quantity or is otherwise exempt. Regulated waste is hazardous waste which is either dangerous waste, mixed waste, or extremely hazardous waste. Dangerous waste ("DW") is hazardous waste other than extremely hazardous waste. Local government jurisdiction is limited to solid waste which does not have a regulated waste component. The DOE regulates regulated waste including dangerous waste. Solid waste with a dangerous waste or extremely hazardous waste component is regulated exclusively by the DOE as dangerous or extremely hazardous waste. As so limited, 'DWs' are 'hazardous waste' and are 'regulated waste'. MRWs are solid waste that does not include 'regulated waste' components, i.e. 'DWs'. Transporters are DOE regulated services transporting DWs and MRWs from collection sites to licensed disposal sites transfer facilities are the fixed base facility from which transporters collect, temporarily store and, load DWs and MRWs for transportation regulated under a transporter's 'permit'. See RCW 70.105.010(1), (7), (11) and (13), definitions, and 70.105.007(10); WAC 173-303-040 definitions. See also, Guidelines, p. 1 defining MRWs, Guidelines, at IV(B), p. 19 prohibiting MRW facilities receipt of DWs and Guidelines, at IX(A) and (D), p. 49-51, distinguishing transporters and TSDs from MRW facilities. TSDs and transporters are treated as the recipients of waste from MRW facilities and not as MRW facilities. The Guidelines pp. 11-13, 19, do not link guidance on permitting MRW facilities with EPA/DOE Numbers applicable to TSDs (treatment, storage, or disposal facilities) and transporters other than to point out that MRW facilities must become TSDs if they accept any DWs. A transfer facility as an identified part of a transporter and operates under the transporter number after notification of the DOE. See WAC 173-303-240(1), (6), and 173-303-060. Temporary storage does not include storage in transit. See WAC 173-303-040, definition, 173-303-240(6), (9) setting out the ten day storage limitation for transfer facilities, and 173-303-200-201 that otherwise permit small waste generators longer storage of MRWs, made applicable to transporters by WAC 173-303-240(4).

² WAC 173-350-700(2). MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 4

Fax: 1-509-453-0745

are based on a clear statutory mandate. Local government is thus barred federally and by Washington statutes from regulating anything other than state only regulated waste.

CSE plays an important role in the overall scheme of waste management and disposal. It is licensed to and accepts, temporarily retains and ships to licensed disposal sites DWs and MRWs from local generators for disposition. It is specifically identified in and its role specifically recognized as a unique State permitted transporter/transfer facility for disposition of DWs and MRWs in the Kittitas County Solid Waste Plan as reviewed and approved by the DOE. Thus, it performs a valuable and recognized function to Kittitas County in the process of disposing of hazardous wastes that must be sent to licensed disposal sites which locally permitted waste handling facilities under the KCSWO are not authorized to do.4

Based on a misconstruction of the KCSWO and WAC 173-250-360 which provides for MRW handling and facilities and delegates to local health districts permitting and administration thereof, KCPHD issued an order on December 21, 2009 to CSE to obtain an MRW facility permit

³ RCW 70.105.005(8) and (10), 70.105.007(1) and (3), 70.105. 035 and 70.95.060.

⁴ Kittitas County Solid Waste Plan, (2011), p. 7-4 - 7-7 and Tables 27 and 29 recognize CSE and its role in transporting DWs, there designated as regulated or hazardous waste for disposition and that Kittitas County has no disposal sites for such waste. MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY **REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 5**

for CSE's transfer facility. To avoid conflict therewith, CSE attempted to do so. On November 4, 2010, KCPHD by letter authorized CSE to continue to operate its transfer facility if it proceeded with its MRW facility permit application and assured CSE that its right to operate would not be terminated until two weeks after KCPHD commented on CSE's MRW facility permit application. On January 27, 2011, Kittitas County issued a NOVA closing the transfer facility as an unpermitted MRW, fined CSE for operating same, and ordered invasive testing of the facility floor.

⁵ WAC 173-350-360 generally authorizes local government to permit, administer, and close MRW facilities under strict detailed guidelines covering, location, design, operations, closure and permitting that are contained in WAC 173-350-360(4)-(11). See further, Washington Dep't. of Ecol., Moderate Risk Waste Fixed Facility Guidelines (1993, 1995) issued in further guidance of local government ("Guidelines"). WAC 173-350-360(1)(a)(ii) and (1)(b)(i) categorically exempt therefrom, including from permitting by local government under WAC 173-350-360, transporter/transfer facilities permitted and regulated pursuant to WAC 173-303-240 if, as does CSE, they have an EPA/DOE issued number under WAC 173-303-060 as a DW facility and they ship both DWs and MRWs under a uniform manifest authorized by WAC 173-303-180. The categorical exemption from MRW permitting and compliance covers both DWs and MRWs and coverings both transporters and their transfer facilities, the latter perfected under transporter permit by notification of the DOE, here, as to CSE, not an issue. See WAC 173-303-240(6). It at all relevant times had a relevant number and notified the DOE of its transfer facility in its annual DOE reporting compliance in 2003. See Rivard Decl, 3/8/11, ex. K. (Appellate Board Record PH-11-0001 hereinafter referenced as "ABR") [ABR 12] and ex. PP [ABR 43]; Allphin Decl. 11/4/13, ex. K (Clerk's Papers for Court of Appeals 32301-3-III which was consolidated into Court of Appeals 30770-1-III on April 25, 2014 hereinafter referenced as "CP1") [CP1 129-134].

⁶ Rivard, the KCPHD health officer, admitted that a DOE permitted transporter/transfer facility did not need an MRW facility permit Rivard Decl., 11/16/12 to Court of Appeals, para 15 disingenuously claiming CSE elected to have an MRW facility permit rather than 'apply' for the DOE transfer facility 'permit'. This is false. Rivard as KCPHD health officer ordered CSE to obtain such an MRW facility permit on 12/21/09 [ABR 9] as noted above even though he later testified such MRW facility permit was not required. CSE's application for an MRW facility permit was not elective. See note 2 above.

⁷ Rivard Decl 3/8/11, Ex. DD [ABR 31]; Allphin Decl 11/4/13, Ex. AD [CP1 154], MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 6

CSE administratively appealed.⁸ The hearing examiner refused to hear any challenges to the NOVA's construction of KCSWO and approved the NOVA based on the presence of DWs at CSE's transfer facility as an MRW facility and on its lack of an MRW facility permit.⁹

On appeal, the Superior Court based review strictly on the hearing examiner record, which did not contain the legal or Constitutional challenges to Kittitas County's actions, and affirmed the hearing examiner. On appeal, the Court of Appeals ignored RAP 2.5(a)(3)'s mandate to hear Constitutional Issues not brought below and cited RAP 2.5 as justification not to hear issues not brought before the hearing examiner.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals' decision that a county regulation pertaining to a moderate risk waste facility can preempt a state regulation governing dangerous waste transferors and transporters presents an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine.

⁸ Rivard Decl 3/8/11, Ex. MM [ABR 40]. Per WAC 173-350-360(6), MRW facilities cannot accept DWs (regulated waste). See similarly, *Guidelines*, p. 19. Hence, a transfer facility cannot legally be permitted as an MRW facility because it by definition and purpose accepts regulated waste (DWs) and as an addition MRWs.

⁹ Hearing Examiner Decision filed 5/12/11 [ABR 64], see para. 13, conclusions of law; As to refusal to hear constitutional issues, transcript, hearing examiner hearing of 4/25/11, p. 5., HE hearing transcript, filed with the Court of Appeals 9/20/12.

¹⁰ Memorandum Decision 3/12/12 [CP 120]; Final Order 5/14/12 [CP 134].

¹¹ Decision of Court of Appeals filed 4/23/15. MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY

REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 7

A matter is reviewable by this Court if it affects a substantial public interest. See RAP 13.4(d)(4). A substantial public interest is affected if the matter involves a matter of a public as opposed to private nature, if it is desirable to provide an authoritative determination for future guidance to public officers, and if the matter is likely to recur. Hart v. Dep't. of Soc. And Health Services, 111 Wn.2d 445, 447, 449, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988); Sorenson v. Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972); In re Cross, 99 Wn.2d 373, 377, 662 P.2d 828 (1983). In Hart, the court examined whether due process was denied to Hart when her paramedic certificate was modified on recommendation of her director in a manner binding DSHS without the opportunity for review through appeal. In Sorenson, the Court examined whether qualification for local public office could be conditioned by ordinance on local property ownership. The Hart Court recognized that substantial public interest is implicated where issues of constitutional interpretation or the validity of statutes and regulations are involved because they tend to be public in nature and involve risks of recurrence. See Hart, p. 449. In Marriage of Hoover, 151 Wn.2d 884, 892, 893, 93 P.3d 124 (2004), this Court recognized that a lower court's failure to follow construction guidelines on a matter of interpreting a marital statute was sufficiently important to meet the public

No.: R591

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 8

Fax: 1-509-453-0745

interest test since there was risk of recurrence and the matter involved one affecting a waste of judicial resources. It referred to the lack of guidance in the statute and conflicting judicial decisions in reference to its waste of judicial resources claim.

The matter for which CSE urges review by this Court is similarly supported by its substantial public interest. The NOVA and the decisions of the hearing examiner, trial court, and Court of Appeals misconstrue and conflict with WAC 173-350-360, disregard WAC 173-350-360(1)(a)(ii) and WAC 173-350-360(1)(b)(i), and RCW 70.105.005(8), (10), RCW 70.105.007(1) and (3) and RCW 70.105.035 which authorized the legislative regulation, restricts local government to nonregulated waste, and grants the DOE exclusive authority over regulated DWs and facilities handling, storing, or transporting same.

As shown by reference to CSE's facility and its necessary use in receiving and transporting waste from Kittitas County to out of county disposal sites in compliance with federal and state law, there is a clear public interest in the resolution of the question whether a dangerous waste transporter and transferor can be subject to a local permitting process which makes it impossible to receive and temporarily store in transit MRWs and dispose of them with DWs, an activity sanctioned and required

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 9

by WAC 173-350-360 governing such dispositions. Unless transporters are allowed to use transfer facilities subject to their DOE permit to accept and temporarily hold MRWs as well as DWs, Kittitas County will be left without a means of disposing of such wastes out of county where such disposition is required by the waste classification under rules of the DOE and EPA 12 All other public health districts in Washington are similarly left in limbo as to the effective transportation of MRWs and DWs if the resolution approved by the hearing examiner and the courts below stand. They all have similar solid waste ordinances. Parenthetically, in no other county in Washington has a transporter with a transfer facility been required to obtain a local MRW facility permit for such transfer facility or is there a private locally permitted MRW facility that is either permitted as a transfer facility or accepts DWs. Moreover, all MRW generators that deliver MRWs to transporters at their transfer facilities will be rendered noncompliant because as shown by WAC 173-350-360(6)(a)(viii), MRWs become subject to DW regulation and uniform manifest compliance requirements if a transporter loses its right to accept and re-manifest MRWs at its transfer facility. What the decisions below require, that is

¹² The function of receiving in transit MRWs is identified in WAC 173-350-360(6)(a)(viii) in connection with the re-manifesting thereof from bills of lading applicable to MRWs to uniform manifests applicable to the shipment of MRWs by transporters under the uniform manifest regime.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY
REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 10

that a transfer facility be permitted locally as an MRW facility simply is not legally permissible under the applicable DOE regulations and RCW 70.105.007(3) which authorizes the restriction of local government therefrom.

The Washington legislature recognized the importance of limiting local government's jurisdiction over waste management state wide to solid waste without regulated components subject to state regulatory oversight through the DOE and giving jurisdiction over all other waste, particularly that with regulated components to the DOE. It further recognized the state wide implications of that division of authority. ¹³ Local authority is identified as jurisdictional health departments consisting of counties and groups of counties covering the state. Local ordinances implement their authority, all filed with the DOE. ¹⁴ Permits subject to their purview are similarly reviewed for legality by the DOE. ¹⁵ The system and its division of authority over waste is thus, state wide, discrete as to jurisdiction, and overseen by the DOE. Clearly, local construction of local ordinances conflicting such carefully reticulated statutory grant have substantial

¹³ See language in RCW 70.105.005(8) and (10) and 70.105.007, introductory paragraph, 70.105.007(1) and (3).

¹⁴ RCW 70.95.160, applicable only to 'solid waste' without a regulated component.
15 RCW 70.95.185. The DOE passes on legality and consistency with minimum legal requirements of all local government permits. Similarly, see WAC 173-350-360 and 173-350-310 which dictate design and permitting requirements for MRW facilities and intermediate waste handling facilities subject to local government oversight.
MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY
REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 11

public interest, particularly when so declared by the Legislature. There are 9 listed TSD or transporters that provide services to Kittitas County, of which only Chem-Safe is local.

The Court of Appeals' decision to disregard RAP 2.5(a)(3)'s mandate to consider constitutional issues not raised before the hearing examiner on an administrative appeal implicates a substantial public interest. The matter has come before appellate courts and this Court in other contexts. The Court of Appeals' decision o is particularly problematic in situations where constitutional issues cannot be brought before the trier of fact because of jurisdictional limitations placed on a hearing examiner. The Court of Appeals' decision raises an issue of significant public interest because the decision requires any Washington litigant either to elect to file judicially for declaratory relief at the risk of failure to exhaust administrative remedies or to file judicially for declaratory relief and at the same time maintain the administrative action with the further risk of inconsistent results and added expense and use of judicial resources.

2. The Court of Appeals' construction and upholding of a local ordinance that conflicts with the governing state regulation and its refusal to consider constitutional issues outside of the hearing examiner's jurisdiction present significant questions of law under the State and Federal constitutions.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 12

07/06/2015 16:28

The test for determining whether review is warranted as a manifest error of a principle of constitutional law affecting a material right under RAP 13.4 is four pronged: (1) was there an error that was constitutionally based; (2) was the error manifest; (3) is the argument that there was such an error meritorious; (4) was the error harmless. State v. Barr 123 Wn.App., 373, 381, 98 P.3d 518 (2004). In State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn. 2d 595, 601, 602, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999) this Court confirmed that the test applies both to criminal and civil proceedings. It reasoned that the term manifest requires that the error result in a concrete detriment to the claimant based on constitutional principles, there the 8th Amendment and a claimed excessive fine. See WWJ, pp. 602, 603; State v. McFarland 127 Wn. 2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995), and State v. Lynn 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992), cited therein. 16 The error must rest on a plausible argument. See WWJ, p. 603 wherein this Court measured the application of the constitutional principle that was abridged with the facts supporting abridgement. Finally, the record must be adequate to show the abridgement, detriment, constitutional issue and the plausibility of

¹⁶The 'could have been brought below' issue concerning the courts is absent here. CSE was foreclosed by jurisdiction from bringing the constitutional issues to the hearing examiner as the hearing examiner confirmed.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY
REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT - 13

claimant's position. See WWJ, p. 603, denying relief on the inadequacy of the record. This petition meets the WWJ standards for review.

Art. XI, Sec. 11, Wash. St. Const. renders unenforceable a local ordinance conflicting directly with a law of general application. Here, the County's and hearing examiner's construction of the KCSWO VI(I)(1)(a) require CSE to obtain an MRW facility permit as a condition of operating CSE's DOE-permitted transfer facility despite the language of WAC 173-350-360, which categorically exempts CSE as a transporter/transfer facility from MRW permitting and compliance and local government jurisdiction¹⁷ Kittitas County's construction, specifically the hearing examiner's decision, holds CSE in violation of the bar therein as an MRW facility to receipt of DWs, the core purpose of CSE's DOE permit as a

07/06/2015 16:28

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