RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Aug 04, 2015, 1:45 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 91878-3

. .

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

KITTITAS COUNTY, a Washington municipal corporation

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth W. Harper, WSBA 25578 Menke Jackson Beyer, LLP 807 North 39th Avenue Yakima, WA 98902 509-575-0313

Attorneys for Respondent Kittitas County

I. INTRODUCTION

Kittitas County (the "County") asks this Court to deny the petition for review of ABC Holdings, Inc., and Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc., (collectively "CSE"). The petition seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals in *ABC Holdings, Inc., and Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc., v. Kittitas County*, 348 P.3d 1222 (2015) (the "Decision").

The petition fails to satisfy the criteria governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) and is instead a re-argument of the merits of CSE's case below.

The Decision is consistent with established case law and does not present any matter of substantial public interest justifying review here. The Court of Appeals resolved the case on the basis of tactical choices and errors of CSE in proceedings below. At various points in these lengthy administrative and judicial appellate proceedings, CSE failed to introduce evidence, failed to challenge findings of fact, failed to preserve error, and waived legal arguments available to it. The likelihood of recurrence of these circumstances in future cases is very low and weighs against review because of the unique facts and procedural history of this case.

Only as a secondary matter does the Decision touch on any issue even arguably related to the substantive law of solid waste regulation. Even here, however, CSE has failed to show how the Decision conflicts with any other appellate decisions or how the Decision presents a matter of substantial public interest. This Court should uphold the narrow and well-reasoned decision of the Court of Appeals and deny the petition.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

CSE does not dispute that it failed to challenge any findings of fact from the hearing examiner decision dated May 12, 2011. CP 4-10. This decision addressed CSE's appeal of the administrative action of Kittitas County by which a notice and order of violation was issued for CSE's failure to possess a permit for storage and management of moderate risk waste ("MRW").

A. The NOVA and CSE's appeal to the hearing examiner.

Prior to issuing the notice and order of violation ("NOVA"), the County communicated with CSE regarding the need to obtain a MRW permit to avoid further penalties. ABR 9¹. After CSE

¹ "ABR" citations are to the appellate board record established before the hearing examiner.

persisted in its failure to obtain a permit from the County, the County issued the NOVA. ABR 40. The NOVA was appealed to the hearing examiner. CSE admitted to the hearing examiner that it had operated without a permit where one was required. ABR 56, pp. 11-12. At oral argument CSE's lawyer conceded that CSE did not possess a permit and that the County "absolutely....has a right to shut it down." CP 73. Similarly, CSE's lawyer acknowledged that "[a] permit ultimately is -- is required for the activity." CP 77. CSE instead argued to the hearing examiner that the NOVA was improper because there were not "a significant number of violations" and because applicable regulations did not require secondary containment measures to guard against leaks of waste. CP 67; 62-73.

The hearing examiner found that CSE "did not dispute that it has been operating during the period of investigation by Mr. Rivard without the required license and/or permit." CP 7.² The hearing examiner found that "[t]he evidence is that the appellant collects waste, including moderate risk waste on-site, [and] stores such waste for varying amounts of time before transporting the waste to off-site

² Hearing examiner finding of fact no. 18.

collection facilities."³ The hearing examiner found that rather than disputing "that they operated without the required license/permit" CSE "instead focused on challenging the correctness of the alleged labeling and/or shipping incidents described in the Declarations of Mr. Rivard."⁴ Other findings of fact included the finding that the floor at the CSE facility "is cracked and shows other forms of deterioration that most likely was caused by unknown chemicals."⁵ "These unknown chemicals spilled on the flooring may pose a risk to the public's health, safety and welfare. Testing of this flooring is necessary to determine whether or not the flooring contains hazardous waste from chemical releases." *Id.*

CSE's appeal of the hearing examiner's decision proceeded to superior court pursuant to the Rules for Appeal of Decisions of Courts of Limited Jurisdiction under Kittitas County Code § 18.02.030(6)(f).

B. The trial court review of the hearing examiner decision. Before the trial court, CSE again admitted that it collected moderate risk waste prior to transporting the MRW to appropriate

³ Hearing examiner finding of fact no. 24.

⁴ Hearing examiner finding of fact no. 25.

⁵ Hearing examiner finding of fact no. 23; *see also* record items cited at ABR 54, pp. 5-7.

disposal facilities. CP 14. The RALJ rules imposed no limits on the superior court's consideration of alleged errors of law. RALJ 9.1(a). CSE's main legal argument was that the acknowledged lack of a permit was not sufficient to constitute a public nuisance. CP 21-25. The trial court found substantial evidence supporting each of the hearing examiner's findings of fact. CP 135. The court commented on the "broad based overall flagrant permit violation which regulates all aspects of solid waste...." CP 126. In subsequent proceedings before the trial court, CSE again acknowledged that "[w]hile CSE does not deny that a MRW permit may be required, it avers that DOH has the authority to approve such MRW permits on the procedure under which approval was granted." CP 150. Similarly, CSE stated as follows: "CSE do not contest the right of the DOH and Kittitas County to order the close down of the facility pending perfection of an MRW permit." CP 153.

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals succinctly noted that CSE "did not dispute it had been operating during Mr. Rivard's investigation without a required permit." Decision at 1226.

Contrary to arguments raised in the petition, CSE was never precluded from arguing to the trial court that the hearing examiner's decision did not comport with due process. CP 105, 151. The Court of Appeals also considered—and rejected—constitutional claims of CSE regarding due process and "takings." Decision at 1228-29.

III. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW</u> <u>SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED</u>

The Court of Appeals correctly resolved all of the issues on appeal and determined that there was no error below. Review by this Court is not warranted. Because CSE can point to no decision of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court that conflicts with the Decision in this matter, CSE is limited to seeking review based on RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

A. This fact-specific local case has no issue of public interest.

CSE's argument regarding moderate risk waste permitting regulations does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The analysis of this criterion is informed by the manner in which the Court of Appeals resolved the issues in this case. The Court of Appeals correctly resolved the case on grounds of CSE's litigation tactics and errors below. There is no issue of substantial public interest. The main value of publication of the Decision is that it provides further instruction to litigants on the need to properly

assign error to factual findings in reviewing administrative decisions as well as the need to preserve alleged legal error. CSE does not, however, find fault with any aspect of the Decision on these issues, nor does the Decision conflict with any existing precedent on these points. *See Citizens for Mt. Vernon v. City of Mt. Vernon*, 133 Wn.2d 861, 869, 947 P.2d 1208 (1997) ("our cases require issues to be first raised at the administrative level."); *King County v. Wash. State Boundary Review Bd.*, 122 Wn.2d 648, 670, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993) ("[i]n order for an issue to be properly raised before an administrative agency, there must be more than simply a hint or a slight reference to the issue in the record.").

In a concurring opinion in the Decision, Judge Fearing emphasized the failure of CSE to properly present its arguments below. Judge Fearing found that CSE had invited error in proceedings before the hearing examiner. Decision at 1230-31. In his concurrence, Judge Fearing pointed out that "in two briefs, CSE told the hearing examiner it needed a county MRW permit. CSE asserted no exemption from the permit requirement." *Id.* at 1231. Likewise, "CSE affirmatively told the hearing examiner that it needed a permit and was engaged in the process of procuring the permit." *Id.* Based

on this record, Judge Fearing cited the traditional rule that "under the doctrine of invited error, a party may not materially contribute to an erroneous application of law during a hearing and then complain of it on appeal." *Id.* (citing *In re Dependency of K.R.*, 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995)).

B. This case has no significant questions of constitutional law.

CSE also argues that review should be granted based on the presence of a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States. In this section of its petition, CSE relies on two theories. First is the claim that Washington's preemption doctrine has constitutional significance due to the text of Article 11, Section 11, of the Washington Constitution. This argument is unsupported by any citation to precedent.

The text of the Washington Constitution lends no support to CSE's theory. The text states that municipalities "may make and enforce within [their] limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." Wash. Const. art. XI, § 11. Based on this text, there is no constitutional significance to CSE's claim at all. CSE's so-called constitutional claim simply devolves to its oft-repeated and enduringly unsuccessful argument

that Washington's solid waste regulatory scheme somehow exempts CSE from compliance with applicable moderate risk waste handling permit regulations. CSE's argument is a question of statutory and regulatory interpretation, not constitutional law.

This argument is also incorrect. There is a strong emphasis in Washington law on the role of local governments in the administration of solid waste management, including moderate risk waste. A key purpose of Chapter 70.95 RCW, Solid Waste Management--Reduction and Recycling, is the establishment of a scheme in which local health departments are given authority to permit solid waste facilities. *See* 23 Tim Butler & Matthew King, *Washington Practice: Environmental Law and Practice* § 13.1 (2014).

Chapter 70.95 RCW emphasizes the role of local governments in the administration of solid waste management. *See, e.g.*, RCW 70.95.010(6)(c) (legislative finding that "county and city governments [are] to assume primary responsibility for solid waste management"); RCW 70.95.020(1) (stating purpose of chapter "[t]o assign primary responsibility for adequate solid waste handling to local government.").

CSE's reliance on WAC 173-350-360 is mistaken because this regulation does not operate as a basis for exempting moderate risk waste facilities from moderate risk waste permit requirements prescribed elsewhere in Chapter 173-350 WAC. Further, WAC 173-350-360 has no effect at all on the applicability of a local regulation such as Kittitas County Public Health Department Ordinance 1999-01, which is independently applicable to CSE pursuant to state authorization at RCW 70.95.160. ABR 5.

The second constitutional claim of CSE relates to a constitutional due process theory. This argument is also unsupported by any precedent. CSE complains that it was denied due process because it "has been prevented from being heard" on its "constitutional issues." Petition for Review at 18.

This argument has no constitutional significance because CSE's "constitutional" due process issue is only the previouslydiscussed (and constitutionally insignificant) preemption theory in a different guise. CSE's contention is also simply untrue because it had every opportunity to raise constitutional claims in its appeal of the hearing examiner's decision to the trial court. Pursuant to RALJ 9.1(a), the trial court had jurisdiction on appeal to consider whether the hearing examiner had "committed any errors of law." CSE was not foreclosed from raising constitutional issues.

Indeed, CSE unsuccessfully argued to the superior court that it had been deprived of due process. CP 105, 151. CSE pressed its constitutional due process claims before the Court of Appeals. Appellants' Opening Brief pp. 34, 46-48. CSE also asserted that the County's actions constituted a taking. *Id.* at p. 37. These arguments were found to lack merit. Decision at 1228-29. The allowance for raising manifest constitutional errors under RAP 2.5(a)(3) applies where a litigant did not raise those issues at trial but only on appeal. *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 601, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999). But here, CSE was allowed to raise its constitutional issues on appeal, including (at length) in CSE's motion for reconsideration filed with the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals considered CSE's constitutional arguments. Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration at 9-23.

CSE's argument regarding constitutional issues only reinforces the basic trajectory of this case. CSE has lacked any coherent argument against the County's position from the very beginning. CSE has varied its arguments largely without

consideration of precedent or principal. As CSE's arguments have failed in serial fashion, CSE has tried to salvage its position by raising new arguments.

At this point in the proceedings, none of CSE's arguments implicates any of the standards set forth at RAP 13.4(b).

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review. The Court of Appeals correctly applied precedent to decide a fact-specific case involving a local company that admittedly required a moderate risk waste permit under applicable regulations but refused to obtain one. The criteria in RAP 13.4(b) have not been met. CSE has not cited a single case to support its claim that the Court of Appeals erred. Accordingly, Supreme Court review is unwarranted here and CSE's petition should be denied.